Screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, Hemoccult (Review)

Hewitson P, Glasziou PP, Irwig L, Towler B, Watson E



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2007, Issue 1

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| HEADER | 1 |
|----------------------------|----|
| ABSTRACT | 1 |
| PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY | 2 |
| BACKGROUND | 2 |
| OBJECTIVES | 2 |
| METHODS | 3 |
| RESULTS | 4 |
| DISCUSSION | 10 |
| AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS | 11 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 11 |
| REFERENCES | 12 |
| CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES | 15 |
| DATA AND ANALYSES | 27 |
| FEEDBACK | 28 |
| WHAT'S NEW | 29 |
| HISTORY | 29 |
| CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS | 29 |
| DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST | 30 |
| SOURCES OF SUPPORT | 30 |
| INDEX TERMS | 30 |

[Intervention Review]

Screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, Hemoccult

Paul Hewitson¹, Paul P Glasziou², Les Irwig³, Bernie Towler⁴, Eila Watson⁵

¹Department of Primary Health Care, Unviersity of Oxford, Oxford, UK. ²Centre for Research in Evidence Based Practice, Bond University, Gold Coast, Australia. ³School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia. ⁴Medical Advisory Unit, Office of Health Protection, Canberra, Australia. ⁵Department of Primary Health Care, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

Contact address: Paul Hewitson, Department of Primary Health Care, Unviersity of Oxford, Oxford, UK. paul.hewitson@dphpc.ox.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Colorectal Cancer Group.

Publication status and date: New search for studies and content updated (no change to conclusions), comment added to review, published in Issue 2, 2011.

Review content assessed as up-to-date: 6 June 2010.

Citation: Hewitson P, Glasziou PP, Irwig L, Towler B, Watson E. Screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, Hemoccult. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD001216. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001216.pub2.

Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Colorectal cancer is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality, especially in the Western world. The human and financial costs have prompted considerable research to evaluate screening tests to detect the cancer at an early curable stage. Tests that have been considered for population screening include the faecal occult blood test (FOBT), flexible sigmoidoscopy and colonoscopy. Reducing mortality from colorectal cancer (CRC) may be achieved by the introduction of population-based screening programmes.

Objectives

To determine whether screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test (guaiac or immunochemical) reduces colorectal cancer mortality and to consider the benefits and harms of screening.

Search methods

Published and unpublished data for this review were identified by:

Reviewing studies included in the previous Cochrane review;

Searching several electronic databases (Cochrane Library, Medline, Embase, CINAHL, PsychInfo, Amed, SIGLE, HMIC); and

Writing to the principal investigators of potentially eligible trials.

Selection criteria

We included all randomised trials of screening for colorectal cancer that compared faecal occult blood test (guaiac or immunochemical) on more than one occasion with no screening and reported colorectal cancer mortality.

Data collection and analysis

Data from the eligible trials were independently extracted by two reviewers. The primary data analysis was performed using the group participants were originally randomised to ('intention to screen'), whether or not they attended screening; a secondary analysis adjusted for non-attendance. We calculated the relative risks and risk differences for each trial, and then overall, using fixed and random effects models (including testing for heterogeneity of effects). We identified nine articles concerning four randomised controlled trials and two controlled trials involving over 320,000 participants with follow-up ranging from 8 to 18 years.

Main results

Combined results from the 4 eligible randomised controlled trials shows that participants allocated to FOBT screening had a statistically significant 16% reduction in the relative risk of colorectal cancer mortality (RR 0.84; CI: 0.78-0.90). In the 3 studies that used biennial screening (Funen, Minnesota, Nottingham) there was a 15% relative risk reduction (RR 0.85, CI: 0.78-0.92) in colorectal cancer mortality. When adjusted for mean screening attendance in the individual studies, there was a 25% relative risk reduction (RR 0.75, CI: 0.66 - 0.84) for those attending at least one round of screening using the faecal occult blood test.

Authors' conclusions

Benefits of screening include a modest reduction in colorectal cancer mortality, a possible reduction in cancer incidence through the detection and removal of colorectal adenomas, and potentially, the less invasive surgery that earlier treatment of colorectal cancers may involve.

Harmful effects of screening include the psycho-social consequences of receiving a false-positive result, the potentially significant complications of colonoscopy or a false-negative result, the possibility of overdiagnosis (leading to unnecessary investigations or treatment) and the complications associated with treatment.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, Hemoccult

Regular screening of faeces for blood can detect colorectal cancer earlier and hence may reduce mortality in populations at risk, such as older patients. The screening test used in these trials to detect colorectal (bowel) cancer was the faecal occult blood test (FOBT). If the FOBT is positive, the bowels are examined closely with further diagnostic test (coloscopy, flexible sigmoidoscopy, double-contrast barium enema), but these tests often cause discomfort and can cause serious adverse consequences. As blood identified in faeces may be due to several reason (unrelated to cancer), it may cause people unnecessary stress and expose them to possible harm. This review found that FOBT screening is likely to avoid approximately 1 in 6 colorectal cancer deaths.

BACKGROUND

Colorectal cancer is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality, especially in the Western world. Colorectal cancer is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in males (54.8 per 100,000) and the second in females (34.8 per 100,000) in the United Kingdom (ONS 2005). In the USA, it is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in both males (62.7 per 100,000) and females (45.8 per 100,000) (U.S. CDC 2004). Colorectal cancer is the second most commonly diagnosed cancer for males (60.7 per 100,000) and for females (52.1 per 100,000) in Australia (AIHW 2001).

The human and financial costs of this disease have prompted considerable research efforts to evaluate the ability of screening tests to detect the cancer at an early curable stage. Tests that have been considered for population screening include variants of the faecal occult blood test, flexible sigmoidoscopy and colonoscopy (Winawer 1993). Reducing mortality from colorectal cancer (CRC) may be achieved by the introduction of population-based screening programmes.

OBJECTIVES

The primary objective of the review were to determine whether screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test (guaiac or immunochemical) reduces colorectal cancer mortality and, secondarily, to evaluate the range of benefits and harms of screening.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

All randomised controlled trials of screening for colorectal cancer using repeated faecal occult blood test (guaiac or immunochemical) were considered for inclusion in the review.

For the primary analysis we included trials that used randomisation of individuals or groups.

Types of participants

Adults (18 years or over) participating in controlled colorectal cancer screening trials, either ongoing or completed. Trial participants may be 'volunteers' who agreed to take part in the trial, or individuals or households identified from general practitioner records or population registers.

Types of interventions

Screening using the faecal occult blood test (guaiac or immunochemical) that were undertaken by participants on more than one occasion (e.g. either annually or biennially). The guaiac test slides may or may not be rehydrated.

Investigation following a positive faecal occult blood test may be colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy and double contrast barium enema, with removal of colorectal neoplasms (cancers or adenomas) found at diagnostic investigation.

Types of outcome measures

The primary outcome was reported colorectal cancer mortality in the screening and control groups.

Other process measures assessed included:

- the sensitivity of the faecal occult blood test (guaiac or immunochemical) for colorectal cancer,
- the proportion of those allocated to screening who actually attended screening,
- colorectal cancer incidence in the screening and control groups,
- colorectal cancer staging in the screening and control groups,

• all cause mortality in the screening and control groups

We also looked at the physical harms of follow-up colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy (e.g. reported bowel perforations and haemorrhages due to these procedures).

Other important outcomes not explored in this review at this stage included:

- the disruption screening causes to people's lives,
- the stress and discomfort from testing and follow-up investigations,
 - the anxiety caused by falsely positive screening results,
- potential advantages of surgery performed earlier (i.e., for early colorectal cancers).

Search methods for identification of studies

See: Colorectal Cancer search strategy.

This review is the second update of the previously published Cochrane Collaboration systematic review (First published 1998 Issue 2).

To identify appropriate studies, we conducted a search using COCHRANE LIBRARY, MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, PSYCHINFO, AMED, SIGLE, and HMIC electronic databases (searches performed using WebSPIRS - search strategies used available on request). There were no restrictions on language of the articles. Studies identified in the searches published before 1996 were compared with the existing reference list for the previous Cochrane review.

Four elements of the search strategy were developed and intersected using the Boolean term 'AND':

- i. Colorectal cancer subject headings (exploded): colorectal neoplasms. Text words (title and abstract): colorectal*, colon, colonic, bowel*, rectal, rectum, sigmoid, anal, anus combined with cancer*, neoplas*, tumor*, tumour*, carcinoma*, sarcoma*, adenocarcinoma*, adeno-carcinoma*, adenom*, lesion*, CRC
- ii. Diagnostic methods subject headings (exploded): occult-blood, endoscopy-gastrointestinal, colonoscopes, sigmoidoscope, proctoscope and enema. Text words (title and abstract): faecal, fecal, stool near occult, FOBT, FOB, haemoccult, hemoccult, sensa, coloscreen, seracult, ez-detect, colocare, flexsure, hemmoquant, hemeselect, immudia, monohaem, insure, !nsure, hemodia, instant-view, immocare, magstream, guaiac near1 smear*, endoscop*, proctoscop*; colonoscop*, sigmoidoscop*, rectosigmoidoscop*, proctosigmoidoscop*, COL, SIG, FSIG, barium near1 enema, DCBE

iii. Screening subject headings: mass screening, population surveillance. Text words (title and abstract): screen*, test, tests, testing, tested or population* near 1 surveillance, early near 3 detect*, early near 3 prevent*

iv. Study search criteria: based on the Cochrane controlled trial filter (Alderson 2005).

The references of all retrieved relevant studies were searched for additional trials. We also wrote to the principal investigators of four of the trials (Funen, Goteborg, Minnesota, Nottingham) to inform them of the update to the review. The trial authors were asked to clarify aspects of the methods and results, and asked for any unpublished data in the areas of quality and trial outcomes. Three of the four investigators replied (authors of the Nottingham trial did not respond).

2010 Update Search

For this update, searches was conducted in May 2010 to identify articles published between Januar 2006 to May 2010, in addition to the previously performed searches from 1989-2006. We searched COCHRANE LIBRARY, MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, and PSYCHINFO electronic databases (searches performed using OVID - search strategies used available on request). There were no restrictions on language of the articles. The update search strategy used the new Cochrane highly sensitive search filter (Cochrane Handbook 5.0.2), replacing the 'study search criteria' filter (Alderson 2005) above.

Data collection and analysis

Two reviewers (PH and PG) contributed to assembling a comprehensive set of articles published between 1989 and 2010 that met the inclusion criteria. The reference list was examined to make certain that the current searches did not miss studies included in the previous Cochrane review.

Data from the trials were independently extracted onto standardised critical appraisal forms by two reviewers (PH and EW). Abstracted data included the study citation, study objectives, study design, method of randomisation and blinded assessment of mortality, length of study and follow-up, number of participants (including number of withdrawals), participant characteristics, description of FOB testing regime, characteristics of FOB test (i.e., sensitivity, specificity and positive predictive value), compliance with screening (both overall and for each screening round), number of CRC cases, number of CRC deaths, all cause mortality, number of follow-up diagnostic procedures (e.g. colonoscopies, sigmoidoscopies, etc), compliance with follow-up diagnostic procedures and stage of cancer.

The trials identified from the searches were independently assessed for their quality by two reviewers (PH and EW), using the criteria recommended by the Cochrane Collaboration (Alderson 2005). Using the Cochrane approach to the assessment of allocation concealment, trials were graded as one of four randomisation categories (A = adequate; B = unclear; C = inadequate; D = not used). A method to generate the sequence of randomisation was regarded as appropriate if it allowed each study participant to have the same chance of receiving each intervention and the investigators could not predict which treatment was next (e.g. table of random numbers or computer generated). Disagreements about quality were resolved through discussion with PG.

Data analysis was performed using the group subjects were originally randomised to ('intention to screen'), whether or not they were ever screened. To determine the effect of screening on colorectal cancer mortality, we estimated the relative risk and risk difference for each trial, and then overall, using fixed and random effects models and tested for heterogeneity of effects using the chisquared test in Review Manager 5.0.2.

Since analysis by intention-to-screen would underestimate any real effect in those attending screening, as a secondary analysis, we adjusted for screening in individual trials using a previously published method (Glasziou 1992). Essentially, this method divides the intention-to-screen effect (relative risk reduction) by the proportion attending screening.

RESULTS

Description of studies

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

The original search (conducted in February 2005) retrieved a total of 4,565 citations. Of these, 1,087 abstracts were duplicates and were excluded, leaving 3,478 abstracts for further consideration. 112 abstracts were reviewed in detail with 21 articles retrieved to determine relevancy for inclusion in the review. Nine publications relating to four randomised controlled trials, and supplementary information from two non-randomised controlled trials, were considered in the updated review (please see table of included studies). An update search of the literature (conducted in February 2006) found a further 317 citations, but no articles were found relevant for inclusion in the review.

Results of the 2010 Update Search

The systematic searches identified 1,271 potentially relevant articles. After adjusting for duplicates, 859 articles remained. Of these, 852 studies were discarded as these papers clearly did not meet the inclusion criteria for the review. Of the 7 remaining studies reviewed in detail, 6 were excluded due to not including a control group.

16 studies were excluded from the review (see table of excluded studies) as ineligible. The cluster randomised trial performed in China (Jiashan: Jiashan 2003; Liu 2000) was excluded from the review as participants were screened only once using a reversed passive hemagglutination (RPHA) FOB test. The other nine studies (Almpoea 2004; California 1993; Calvados 1996; Florence 1997; Guildford 2001; Japan 1995; Milan 1999; New York 1993; Washington 1995) were excluded due to either being non-randomised or non-controlled trials, or used a FOB test on only one occasion in the screening group. Six studies identified in the 2010 update search (Italy 2010; Netherlands 2008; Netherlands 2009; Netherlands 2010; Turin 2010; Tuscany 2008) were excluded from

the review due to either being non-randomised or non-controlled trials group.

The four randomised controlled trials included in this review were reported in 12 published articles (Funen: Funen 1996, Funen 2002, Funen 2004; Goteborg: Goteborg 1994; Goteborg 1996, Goteborg 2008; Minnesota: Minnesota 1993, Minnesota 1999, Minnesota 2000; Nottingham: Nottingham 1996, Nottingham 1999, Nottingham 2002). One article (Goteborg 2008) was identified from the 2010 update search. The four randomised controlled trials involved 327,043 participants in Denmark, Sweden, USA and the UK.

Three trials - the Funen, Goteborg and Nottingham trials - randomly allocated individuals or households identified from general practice records or population registers to invitation with screening with Hemoccult (Nottingham) or Hemoccult-II (Funen, Goteborg) or to control groups. One trial - the Minnesota study - al-

located people to either screening (Hemoccult) or control groups only after they had agreed to participate in the trial ('volunteers'). The age of participants ranged from 45 to 75 years for the majority of trials, with the exception of the Goteborg trial where participants were aged 60 to 64 years. The ratio of males and females was similar across the studies (see Table 1). The Funen trial (Funen 2004) reported that mean age increased from 59.8 years to 73.0 years during the study and that the male/female ratio decreased from 0.92 to 0.78. The length of follow-up ranged from 8.5 years to 18.4 years. Median follow-up for the Nottingham trial was 11.7 years (range 8.4 to 18.4 years) (Nottingham 2002) and mean follow-up time for the Goteborgtrial was 15.75 years (range 11.25 to 19.5 years) (Goteborg 2008).

Table 1: Age, percentage male/female, screening interval and length of follow-up for included trials.

| RCTs | Age | Male | Female | Screening | Follow-Up |
|------------|-------|-------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| Nottingham | 45-74 | 48% | 52% | Biennial | 11.7 yrs |
| Funen | 45-75 | 49.6% | 50.4% | Biennial | 17 yrs |
| Goteborg | 60-64 | NR | NR | Biennial | 15.75 yrs |
| Minnesota | 50-80 | 48% | 52% | Ann+Bien | 18 yrs |

Three trials (Funen, Goteborg, Nottingham) performed biennial screening. Only individuals who took part in the first round of screening were invited for further screening for the Funen trial. One randomised trial (Minnesota) evaluated both annual and biennial screening. The number of potential screening rounds varied between the trials. Nine rounds of screening were offered to the screening arm of the Funen trial. Participants in the screening arm of the Goteborg trial were offered a second FOB test one-anda-half to two years after initial screening. In the Minnesota trial, the screening rounds were divided into Phase 1 (between February 1976 and December 1982) and Phase II (between February 1986 and February 1992). This meant that screening group participants had an interval of between 3 to 5 years between the two phases of the trial. In total, 11 rounds of screening were offered to the annual screening group and 6 rounds of screening were offered to the biennial screening group. Six rounds of screening were offered to participants in the screening arm of the Nottingham trial.

To reduce the rate of a false-positive results, three trials (Funen, Goteborg, Minnesota) encouraged participants to restrict their diet and medications for a specific period before collecting samples for the Hemoccult test. The restrictions varied between studies,

but primarily concerned avoiding food containing blood (e.g. red meat, fish, poultry), certain fruits and vegetables, vitamin C and aspirin. Hemoccult slides were not rehydrated in two of the randomised trials (Funen, Nottingham) and both of the controlled trials. Both the Goteborg and Minnesota randomised trials rehydrated the majority of Hemoccult slides. In all of the trials, participants with a positive Hemoccult test were referred for further diagnostic evaluation. Further diagnostic evaluations were expected to be performed by colonoscopy, except for participants in the Goteborg randomised trial who received sigmoidoscopy and double-contrast barium enema.

Risk of bias in included studies

All of the randomised trials (Funen, Goteborg, Minnesota, Nottingham) used an adequate randomisation procedure resulting in comparable study groups. Given that the FOB test was completed by trial participants at home, blinding of participants to the intervention was not possible.

Mortality analyses were by "intention to treat" for the Funen, Minnesota and Nottingham randomised trials. This is not specifically stated for the Goteborg trial. One hundred and ninety-seven par-

ticipants were excluded from the screening group in the Goteborg randomised trials (participants had either died between randomisation and screening or could not be located).

Blinded, standardised assessment for mortality was performed for all four randomised controlled trials and both controlled trials. The Funen randomised trials included deaths from the complications of treatment for colorectal cancer in the colorectal cancer mortality analyses. This is not specifically stated for the other trials.

Effects of interventions

Meta-analysis of colorectal cancer screening results

Combining the four randomised trials shows that screening results in a statistically significant relative reduction in colorectal cancer mortality of 16% (fixed and random effects models: RR 0.84, CI: 0.78-0.90). This overall result combined the annual and biennial groups in the Minnesota randomised trial as there was little heterogeneity between the effects (Chi-square test for heterogeneity = 1.85, df = 3, P = 0.60, $I^2 = 0\%$).

Sensitivity analysis

Combining the trials that used biennial screening (Minnesota, Nottingham, Goteborg) shows a 15% (fixed and random effects model RR 0.85, CI: 0.78-0.92) relative reduction in colorectal cancer mortality and a slightly larger confidence interval (Chisquare test for heterogeneity = 0.21, df = 3, P = 0.90, $I^2 = 0\%$).

Reduction in mortality adjusted for attendance

The non-compliance rate for the trials ranged from 33% to 46%

for the first screen and between 22% and 40% for at least one round of screening. When the relative risk is adjusted for attendance (see below) to screening in the randomised trials, the overall predicted relative mortality reduction is 25% (RR 0.75, CI: 0.66 - 0.84) for those screened (analysis not shown - available on request).

Individual trial results

Deaths attributed to colorectal cancer have been published for all of the four trials. The relative risk reductions for colorectal cancer mortality vary from 13% to 33% (see Table 2). The Minnesota randomised trial reported a 33% reduction (RR 0.67, 95% CI: 0.51-0.83) in colorectal cancer mortality for the annual screening group and a 21% reduction (RR 0.79, CI: 0.62-0.97) in colorectal cancer mortality for the biennial screening group at 18 years of follow-up (Minnesota 1999). The Goteborg randomised trial reported a 16% reduction (RR 0.84, 95%CI: 0.71-0.99) in colorectal cancer mortality (Goteborg 2008) for biennial screening after a mean 15 years and 9 months of follow-up. The Nottingham trial reported a 13% reduction (RR 0.87, CI: 0.78-0.97) in colorectal cancer mortality for biennial screening after 11 years of follow-up (Nottingham 2002). The Funen randomised trial reported a 16% reduction (RR 0.84, CI: 0.73-0.96) in colorectal cancer mortality for annual screening and an 11% reduction (RR 0.89, CI: 0.78-1.01) in colorectal cancer mortality, including deaths attributed to complications from treatment, for biennial screening at 17 years of follow-up (Funen 2004).

Table 2: Number of CRC deaths in screening and control groups, mortality incidence ratio and mortality reduction for included trials.

| | No. of CRC deaths | | Incidence Ratio | | |
|-------------|-------------------|-----------|-----------------|-------------|-----------|
| RCTs | Screen | Control | Screen | Control | Mort.Red. |
| Nottingham | 593/76466 | 684/76384 | 0.70/1000py | 0.81/1000py | 13% |
| Funen | 362/30967 | 431/30966 | 0.84/1000py | 1.00/1000py | 16% |
| Goteborg | 252/34144 | 300/34164 | 0.53/1000py | 0.64/1000py | 16% |
| Minnesota-A | 121/15570 | 177/15384 | 0.67/1000 | 1.00/1000 | 33% |
| Minnesota-B | 148/15587 | - | 0.79/1000 | - | 21% |

All-cause mortality

All-cause mortality results are shown in Table 3. Combining the four trials did not show any significant difference in all-cause mortality between the screening and control groups (fixed effects model: RR 1.00, CI: 0.99-1.02; random effects model: RR 1.00, CI: 0.99-101). There was no important heterogeneity between

trials (Chi-squared test for heterogeneity = 1.96, df = 3, p = 0.59, $I^2 = 0\%$).

Furthermore, when excluding deaths from colorectal cancer, shows no significant change in non-colorectal cancer mortality between the screening and control groups (fixed and random effects model: RR 1.01, CI: 1.00-1.03). There was no important heterogeneity between trials (Chi-squared test for heterogeneity = 1.42, df = 3, p = 0.70, $I^2 = 0\%$).

Table 3: All-cause mortality and incidence ratios for included trials.

| | Number of Deaths | | Incidence Ratio for All-Cause Mortality | | | |
|------------|------------------|---------|---|--------------|--|--|
| RCTs | Screen | Control | Screen | Control | | |
| Nottingham | 20421 | 20336 | 24.18/1000py | 24.11/1000py | | |
| Funen | 12205 | 12248 | 28.3/1000 | 28.4/1000 | | |
| Goteborg | 10591 | 10432 | 22.48/1000py | 22.10/1000py | | |
| Minnesota | 10449 | 5213 | 342-340/1000 | 343/1000 | | |

Attendance

The percentage of participants in the screening groups who completed at least one round of screening ranged from 60% to 78% (see Table 4). Compliance with screening was higher for the Minnesota trial than for the European trials. Hemoccult screening continued to be offered to all screening participants in most trials, regardless of previous attendance. In the Funen study, only subjects who participated in the first round of screening were invited to subsequent screening rounds, hence, the compliance with Hemoccult testing was very high (91-94%) (Funen 2004). This may affect the generalisability of the findings of the Funen study. **Table 4:** Attendance at first screening round, subsequent screening rounds and at least one round for included trials.

| RCTs | First Screen | At least one | Subsequent rounds |
|------------|--------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| Nottingham | 53.4% | 59.6% | - |
| Funen | 66.8% | - | 91-94%(2-9) |
| Goteborg | 63% | 70% | 60% |
| Minnesota | NR | 75%-Ann; 78%-Bi | - |

Test Accuracy

For two of the trials (Funen, Nottingham), the Haemoccult slides were not rehydrated resulting in a low test positivity rate (0.8% to 3.8%) and a higher positive predictive value for colorectal cancer

(5% to 18.7%). In comparison, the test positivity rate for rehydrated slides (Goteborg and Minnesota) was 1.7% to 15.4% and the positive predictive value lower at 0.9% to 6.1% (see Table 5). The sensitivity of the Hemoccult test was defined as the proportion

of all colorectal cancers that were detected by screening, where "all colorectal cancers" was the sum of screen-detected cancers (true positives) and interval cancers within one or two years of screening (false-negatives). The estimated sensitivity of the Hemoccult test for colorectal cancer varied from 55% to 57% for the non-rehydrated slides (81% for a small sample of participants in the Minnesota trial) and from 82% to 92% for the rehydrated slides. **Table 5:** Rehydration of slides, positivity rate, sensitivity, PPV for CRC and adenomas.

| RCTS | Rehyd. | Positivity Rate | Sensitivity | PPV (CRC) | PPV (Aden) |
|------------|--------|-----------------|-------------|-----------|------------|
| Nottingham | No | 1.2-2.7% | 57.2% | 9.9-17.1% | 42.8-54.5% |
| Funen | No | 0.8-3.8% | 55% | 5.2-18.7% | 14.6-38.3% |
| Goteborg | Yes | 1.7-14.3% | 82% | 4.8% | 14.0% |
| | No | 1.9% | NR | NR | NR |
| Minnesota | Yes | 3.9-15.4% | 92.2% | 0.9-6.1% | 6.0-11.0% |
| | No | 1.4-5.3% | 80.8% | 5.6% | NR |

Incidence and Stage

As population screening results in earlier cancer diagnosis, we would expect an excess of colorectal cancers detected initially in the screening groups. In the previous Cochrane review, the authors reported that there was an excess of CRC cases for the Funen, Goteborg and Nottingham trials. However, it was uncertain why this did not initially occur for the Minnesota trial (Towler 1998). A re-examination of this data shows an increased number of CRC cases for the screening groups in the Funen (at 3 years followup CRC cases screen = 147; CRC cases control = 115; Kronborg 1989), Goteborg (at 8.5 years follow-up CRC cases screen = 117; CRC cases control = 44; Goteborg 1994) and Nottingham trials (at 7.8 years follow-up CRC cases screen = 893; CRC cases control = 856; Nottingham 1996). It was suggested that the discrepancy in the number of CRC cases detected in the Minnesota trial (at 13 years follow-up CRC cases annual screen = 323; CRC cases biennial screen = 323; CRC cases control = 356; Minnesota 1993) may have occurred through chance and that this may then also be associated with an underestimation of CRC mortality in the screening groups (Towler 1998). However, it is interesting to note that the Minnesota trial was reporting at 13 years follow-up, in comparison to the much shorter reported length of follow-up for the other trials. Indeed, in a later publication of the Funen trial, the screening and control groups were almost identical in identified CRC cases (at 10 years follow-up CRC cases screen = 481; CRC cases control = 483; Funen 1996).

With further follow-up, the decreasing number of CRC cases occurring over time between the screening and control groups was evident in most of the included trials. In the Funen trial, the number of CRC cases was only slightly higher in the screening groups in comparison to the control groups (see Table 6). The Minnesota (CRC cases annual screen = 417; CRC cases biennial screen = 435), Goteborg and Nottingham trials all reported a lower number of CRC cases in comparison to the control groups. This suggests that other factors, rather than chance (see Lang 1994; Church 1997; Ederer 1997), may have contributed to the reported lower number of CRC cases in the screening groups. There is support for the reduction in the incidence of colorectal cancer following colonoscopic polypectomy (Citarda 2001; New York 1993). The reduced number of CRC cases for the screening groups most likely reflects the efficacy of colonoscopic polypectomy in preventing adenomas from developing into CRC. Indeed, two of the trials (Funen, Goteborg) reported a very large number of identified adenomas in the screening groups in comparison to the control groups (Funen: screen group = 481 adenomas, control group = 174 adenomas, Kronborg 1989; Goteborg: screen group = 419 adenomas, control group = 51 adenomas, Goteborg 1994).

Table 6: Number of CRC cases and incidence rate of CRC cases for screening and control groups in included trials.

| | No. CRC Cases | | Incidence rate | | |
|------------|---------------|------------|----------------|-------------|--|
| RCTs | Screen | Control | Screen | Control | |
| Nottingham | 1268/76466 | 1283/76384 | 1.51/1000py | 1.53/1000py | |
| Funen | 889/30967 | 874/30966 | 2.06/1000py | 2.02/1000py | |
| Goteborg | 252/34144 | 300/34164 | 1.53/1000py | 1.60/1000py | |
| Minnesota | 852/31157 | 507/15394 | 32-33/1000 | 39/1000 | |

As would be expected with screening, all four trials reported more early stage colorectal cancers (Dukes A) and less late stage colorectal cancers (Dukes D or Dukes C and D) in the screening groups compared with the control groups (see Table 7). This favourable shift in colorectal cancer staging occurred across the trials, although the proportion of cancers that were actually screen-detected (e.g. excluding interval cancers, re screening and cancers detected in non-responders to the screening invitation) was fairly low (23% to 46% for Dukes A reported in two of the included trials) (Funen 1996; Nottingham 1996).

Table 7: Stage of CRC diagnosis for screening and control groups in included trials.

| | Screening Grp | | | | Control Grp | | | |
|-----------------|---------------|-----|-----|-----|-------------|-----|-----|-----|
| RCTs | A | В | С | D | A | В | C | D |
| Notting- ham | 20% | 32% | 24% | 22% | 11% | 33% | 31% | 21% |
| Funen | 22% | 34% | 19% | 20% | 11% | 37% | 23% | 24% |
| Goteborg | 26% | 28% | 32% | 14% | 9% | 34% | 21% | 17% |
| Minnesota- A | 30% | 29% | 23% | 9% | 22% | 31% | 21% | 17% |
| Minnesota- | 27% | 26% | 26% | 11% | - | - | - | - |

Further investigation rates

Rates of further diagnostic evaluation (e.g. colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy, completion rates for colonoscopy, etc) were reported for all of the included trials. The main investigation was colonoscopy

(three of the trials), with only the Goteborg trial using flexible sigmoidoscopy and double-contrast barium enema (DCBE). Around 9 in 10 patients with a positive FOB had further testing. In the Funen trial, 93% of participants with a positive Haemoccult result attended at least one colonoscopy examination. In the Minnesota trial, 83% of the annual screening group and 84% of the biennial group returning a positive FOBT result underwent a colonoscopy or a flexible sigmoidoscopy and double-contrast barium enema. In the Nottingham trial 87% of participants with a positive result underwent either colonoscopy, double contrast barium enema or both. In the Goteborg trial, 92% of participants with a positive test attended flexible sigmoidoscopy and a double contrast barium enema.

In the two trials that used colonoscopy as the primary means of further investigation (the Goteborg trial primarily used flexible sigmoidoscopy) and reported complications of the procedure, the rate of perforation during colonoscopy is approximately 1 in 1,400 (9/13,720 = 0.0007). Adverse outcomes were reported in detail for 3 of the trials (Goteborg, Minnesota, Nottingham). The Goteborg trial reported adverse outcomes for both flexible sigmoidoscopy and colonoscopy. In this trial, 3 participants (out of 2,108 participants) who received follow-up by flexible sigmoidoscopy had perforations of the sigmoid colon (Goteborg 1996). All three participants recovered without complications. Three complications (out of only 190 procedures) were also reported for participants undergoing colonoscopy in the Goteborg trial (two perforations and one bleeding complication; perforation detected at polypectomy, perforation of sigmoid colon due to colonoscope and bleeding detected 12 days after polypectomy). In the Minnesota trial, of the 12,246 colonoscopies performed at the University of Minnesota hospital there were four perforations of the colon (all requiring surgery) and 11 serious bleeding (3 requiring surgery) complications (Minnesota 1993). The Nottingham randomised trial reported that there were seven complications (out of 1,474 procedures) associated with colonoscopy (five perforations, one major bleed, one snare entrapment) (Nottingham 1999). Six of these complications required surgery although none of these patients died from the colonoscopy complications.

The cumulative risk of being invited for further investigation (either colonoscopy or flexible-sigmoidoscopy) following a positive FOBT was 2.6% (1,977/76,466) for the Nottingham trial, 5.3% (1,647/30,762) for the Funen trial and 6.4% (2,180/34,144) for the Goteborg trial. The total number of positive screening tests is not reported for the Minnesota trial. However, the number of positive screening tests that were followed by an adequate examination (either colonoscopy or flexible sigmoidoscopy and DCBE) were reported as 8,663 for the annual screening group and 5,170 for the biennial screening group (Minnesota 2000). Based on the reported compliance rate for further investigation (annual = 83%; biennial = 84%), the estimated cumulative risk of being invited for further investigation in the Minnesota trial was 65% for the annual group (8,663/15,570 X 1.17) and 38% for the biennial group (5,170/15,587 X 1.16).

DISCUSSION

The evidence from the randomised controlled trials included in this review, indicates that screening with Haemoccult reduces mortality from colorectal cancer. Based on all randomised participants, the reduction of colorectal cancer mortality from inviting participants to repeat screening is 16% (RR 0.84, CI: 0.78-0.90). Although the trials varied in the selection and age of their study populations, screening intervals, conditions of Haemoccult testing and slide processing, length of follow-up and attendance for screening, the relative reduction in colorectal cancer mortality with screening is consistent across the trials.

The effectiveness of a screening programme depends on the accuracy of the screening test used to detect the condition. The majority of trials reported that the positive predictive value (PPV) of Haemoccult for colorectal cancer was fairly low (see Table 5), suggesting that over 80% of all positive tests were false-positives. These false-positive participants would have been encouraged to attend a further diagnostic investigation, which may have resulted in some negative consequences (e.g. stress, anxiety, other psychosocial consequences) and a small chance of significant adverse consequences from the diagnostic test (e.g. risk of bleeding, bowel perforation or even death). Although this must also be tempered by the PPV for adenomas (1 cm or over), which was higher in comparison to the colorectal cancer PPV. Removal of adenomas identified at screening may also reduce the likelihood of the development of colorectal cancer in the future (New York 1993; Citarda 2001), although this has not been definitively demonstrated.

A criticism of the previous Cochrane review was that it did not include an analysis of all-cause mortality. The all-cause mortality from four of the randomised trials (Funen, Goteborg, Minnesota and Nottingham) combined showed no difference between the screening and control groups (RR 1.00, CI: 0.99-1.03). Although the expectation that all-cause mortality would be decreased as a result of a decrease in mortality in the intervention group (Black 2002) this would only be so for diseases that have a significant impact on overall mortality. A major limitation of using all-cause mortality as an endpoint in cancer screening trials is that it is poorly powered as the intervention is targeted to a disease that causes only a small proportion of overall deaths. A complete analysis of the specific reasons for death (e.g. coronary heart disease, stroke, car accidents, etc) contributing to the all-cause mortality would help to determine if people who have survived colorectal cancer die of other causes several (or more years) later.

The estimate of mortality reduction from the updated randomised and controlled Haemoccult trials is consistent. Haemoccult screening is likely to be of benefit in reducing colorectal cancer mortality for particular population groups (e.g. older adults given the increased incidence of colorectal cancer with age). The included trials also indicated that there was a general shift towards identifying colorectal cancer in the earlier stages within the screen-

ing groups (e.g. Duke's Stage A) in comparison to the control groups. However, this is to be expected, given that screening studies would identify earlier stage lesions due to lead and length time biases. Other benefits of screening that were not explored in detail include the reduction in colorectal cancer incidence through detection and removal of colorectal adenomas, and potentially, less invasive treatment of identified early-stage colorectal cancers.

Alternative CRC screening modalities to FOBT are currently under investigation or in use. The suggested improved accuracy and patient acceptance of immunochemical FOBT (FIT) have been forwarded as reasons for adopting FIT over guaiac FOBT for population screening (Guittet 2009; Federici 2005; Netherlands 2008). Ongoing trials of flexible sigmoidoscopy (FS), either alone or in combination with FOBT/FIT to reduce CRC mortality have also yielded promising findings (Atkin 2010; Hoff 2009; Weissfeld 2005; Netherlands 2010; Segnan 2005) with more definitive results expected in several years.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS Implications for practice

Who would be likely to benefit from colorectal cancer screening using Haemoccult? Assuming a constant reduction in relative risk, the mortality benefit of screening is greatest in populations at greater risk of colorectal cancer death whilst the harmful effects of screening are likely to be independent of this risk (Glasziou 1995). Indeed, increasing screening benefit with increasing population risk of colorectal cancer death was observed in the screening trials.

The reduction in the relative risk of colorectal cancer death with screening needs to be interpreted for its benefit in the overall population where there are differing baseline risks for colorectal cancer. For example, the risk of colorectal cancer increases markedly with age and also in people who have a family history of CRC (Weitz 2005; Cappell 2005). However, people who have a genetic disposition, such as familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC), have an greatly increased risk of developing colorectal cancer (Faivre 2002; Lynch 2000). These individuals would not benefit from population screening, but are likely to benefit from specific monitoring of their conditions through dedicated genetic services (Bliss 2004).

Implications for research

Several important areas require further research. First, there is relatively little information currently available concerning the infor-

mation needs and psychosocial consequences of screening for colorectal cancer. Specific research regarding the best method to provide relevant, high-quality information about the benefits, risks and potential consequences of screening is important to allow people to make and informed choice if they are offered screening. Moreover, the specific information needs of people regarding the type of information that is most relevant to their decision and how best to communicate the possible risks associated with colorectal screening also need to be addressed. Second, there is limited research on patient acceptance of colorectal cancer screening or on how best to involve particular sections of the community, who are often under-represented in other screening activities, in potential colorectal cancer screening programmes. Thirdly, the accuracy of other variants of the faecal occult blood test (e.g. RHNA) for colorectal cancer screening also require further investigation, particularly in comparison to existing tests.

Estimated screening benefit for potential screening populations should guide health policy decisions about to whom screening can be offered. For example, in England and Wales in 2004, the cumulative 10 year mortality from colorectal cancer in males for the decades beginning 40, 50 and 60 are respectively 5, 22 and 70 per 10,000 individuals (ONS 2005). If offering screening reduced this mortality from colorectal cancer by 16%, then the reduction in CRC deaths over the following 10 years for each of these age groups would be 0.8, 3.5 and 11.2 respectively, per 10,000 invited. This somewhat overestimates the benefits of CRC screening, as some of the mortality relates to those diagnosed prior to that decade (ONS 2004). However, it is also an underestimate for those who regularly attend CRC screening. If we use the mortality reduction of 25% estimated for those who regularly attend screening, the reduction in CRC mortality over 10 years for those aged 40, 50 and 60 would be 1.25, 5.5 and 17.5 per 10,000 respectively. Although the relative risk reduction is held to be constant across the trials, greatest reduction in CRC deaths that could be achieved by CRC screening is dependent on the advancing age of the individual (although, given the lack of an effect for all-cause mortality, an increase in life years may not be observed). Hence targeting and monitoring of population programs also requires attention.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the authors of the Funen, Goteborg and Minnesota trials for providing data and useful comments regarding the review. We would also like to thank Cancer Research UK for supporting this work.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Funen 1996 {published data only}

Kronborg, O, Fenger, C, Olsen, J, Jorgensen, O.D, Sondergaard, O. Randomised study of screening for colorectal cancer with faecal-occult-blood test. *Lancet* 1996; **348**(9040):1467–1471.

Funen 2002 {published data only}

* Jorgensen, O.D, Kronborg, O, Fenger, C. A randomised study of screening for colorectal cancer using faecal occult blood testing: results after 13 years and seven biennial screening rounds. *Gut* 2002;**50**:29–32.

Funen 2004 {published data only}

Kronborg, O, Jorgensen, O.D, Fenger, C, Rasmussen, M. Randomized study of biennial screening with a faecal occult blood test: results after nine screening rounds. Scand. J. Gastroenterol 2004;39(9):846–851.

Goteborg 1994 {published data only}

Kewenter, J, Brevinge, H, Engaras, B, Haglind, E, Ahren, C. Results of screening, rescreening, and follow-up in a prospective randomized study for detection of colorectal cancer by fecal occult blood testing. Results for 68,308 subjects. *Scand.J. Gastroenterol* 1994;**29**(5):468–473.

Goteborg 1996 {published data only}

Kewenter, J, Brevinge, H. Endoscopic and surgical complications of work-up in screening for colorectal cancer. *Dis. Colon. Rectum* 1996;**39**:676–680.

Goteborg 2005 {unpublished data only}

Haglind, E, Lindholm, E. Personel Communication Sept 2005.

Goteborg 2008 {published data only}

Lindholm, E, Brevinge, H, Haglind, E. Survival benefit in a randomized clinical trial of faecal occult blood screening for colorectal cancer. *British Journal of Surgery* 2008;**95**(8): 1029–1036.

Minnesota 1993 {published data only}

Mandel, J.S, Bond, J.H, Church, T.R, Snover, D.C, Bradley, G.M, Schuman, L.M, Ederer, F. Reducing mortality from colorectal cancer by screening for fecal occult blood. Minnesota Colon Cancer Control Study. *N.Engl.J.Med* 1993;**328**(19):1365–1371.

Minnesota 1999 {published data only}

Mandel, J.S, Church, T.R, Ederer, F, Bond, J.H. Colorectal cancer mortality: effectiveness of biennial screening for fecal occult blood. *J.Natl. Cancer.Inst* 1999;**91**(5):434–437.

Minnesota 2000 {published data only}

Mandel, J.S, Church, T.R, Bond, J.H, Ederer, F, Geisser, M.S, Mongin, S.J, Snover, D.C, Schuman, L.M. The effect of fecal occult-blood screening on the incidence of colorectal cancer. *N.Engl.J.Med* 2000;**343**(22):1603–1607.

Nottingham 1996 {published data only}

Hardcastle, J.D, Chamberlain, J.O, Robinson, M.H, Moss, S.M, Amar, S.S, Balfour, T.W, James, P.D, Mangham, C.M.

Randomised controlled trial of faecal-occult-blood screening for colorectal cancer. *Lancet* 1996;348(9040):1472–1477.

Nottingham 1999 {published data only}

Robinson, M.H, Hardcastle, J.D, Moss, S.M, Amar, S.S, Chamberlain, J.O, Armitage, N.C, Scholefield, J.H, Mangham, C.M. The risks of screening: data from the Nottingham randomised controlled trial of faecal occult blood screening for colorectal cancer. *Gut* 1999;**45**(4): 588–592

Nottingham 2002 {published data only}

Scholefield, J.H, Moss, S, Sufi, F, Mangham, C.M, Hardcastle, J.D. Effect of faecal occult blood screening on mortality from colorectal cancer: results from a randomised controlled trial. *Gut* 2002;**50**(6):840–844.

References to studies excluded from this review

Almpoea 2004 {published data only}

* Chrissidis, T, Saliangas, K, Economou, A, Nikoloudis, N, Andreadis, E, Prodromou, K, Georgakis, K. Mass screening for colorectal cancer: compliance in the Almopea Region. *Tech. Coloproct.* 2004;8((S1)):193–195.

Beijing 2004 {published data only}

* Shi-Rong, L, Su-Li, T, Zi-Tao, W, Ying, H, Jian-Qui, S, Ge, G, Chang-Hong, X, Jian-Biao, C, Zhi-Min, C, Zhi-Hong, W, Ya-Lin, L. Application of fecal occult blood test in consecutive screening of colorectal carcinoma for natural population. *World Chin. J. Digestol.* 2004;**12**(1):137–139.

Burgundy 2004 {published data only}

* Faive, J, Dancourt, V, Lejeune, C, Tazi, M.A, Lamour, J, Gerard, D, Dassonville, F, Bonithon-Kopp, C. Reduction in colorectal cancer mortality by fecal occult blood screening in a French controlled study. *Gastroenterology* 2004;**126**: 1674–1680.

California 1993 {published data only}

* Selby, J.V, Friedman, G.D, Quesenberry, C.P.J, Weiss, N.S. Effect of fecal occult blood testing on mortality from colorectal cancer. A case control study. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 1993;**118**(1):1–6.

Calvados 1996 {published data only}

* Launoy, G, Herbert, C, Vallee, J.P, Desoubeaux, N, Reaud, J.M, Ollivier, V, Bouvier, V, Flachs, A, Arsene, D, Valla, A, Gignoux, M. Mass screening for colorectal cancer in France. Experience in 165,000 people in the department of Calvados [Le depistage de masse du cancer colorectal en France. Experience aupres de 165,000 personnes dans le Calvados]. *Gastroenterol. Clin. Biol.* 1996;**20**(3):228–236.

Florence 1997 {published data only}

* Zappa, M, Castiglione, G, Grazzini, G, Falini, P, Giorgi, D, Paci, E, Ciatto, S. Effect of faecal occult blood testing on colorectal mortality: results of a population-based case-control study in the district of Florence, Italy. *Int. J. Cancer* 1997;73(2):208–210.

Guildford 2001 {published data only}

* Lamah, M, Norris, J, Caffarey, S.M, Broughton, M, Marks, C.G. Effect of faecal occult blood testing on colorectal cancer mortality in the surveillance of subjects at moderate risk of colorectal neoplasia: a case-control study. *Int. J. Colorectal Dis.* 2001;**16**(5):313–317.

Italy 2010 {published data only}

Lisi, D, Hassan, C.C, Crespi, M, AMOD Study Group. Participation in colorectal cancer screening with FOBT and colonoscopy: An Italian, multicentre, randomized population study. *Digestive and Liver Disease* 2010;**42**(5): 371–376.

Japan 1995 {published data only}

* Saito, H, Soma, Y, Koeda, J, Wada, T, Kawaguchi, H, Sobue, T, Aisawa, T, Yoshida, Y. Reduction in the risk of mortality from colorectal cancer by fecal occult blood screening with immunochemical hemagglutination test: a case-control study. *Int. J. Cancer* 1995;**61**(4):465–469.

Jiashan 2003 {published data only}

* Zheng, S, Chen, K, Liu, X, Ma, X, Yu, H, Chen, K, Yao, K, Zhou, L, Wang, L, Qui, P, Deng, Y, Zhang, S. Cluster randomization trial of sequence mass screening for colorectal cancer. *Dis. Colon. Rectum.* 2003;46(1):51–58.

Milan 1999 {published data only}

* Bertario, L, Russo, A, Crosignani, P, Sala, P, Spinelli, P, Pizzetti, P, Andeola, S, Berrino, F. Reducing colorectal cancer mortality by repeated faecal occult blood test: a nested case-control study. *Eur. J. Cancer* 1999;**35**(6): 973–977.

Netherlands 2008 {published data only}

van Rossum, L.G, van Rijn, A.F, Laheij, R.J, van Oijen, M.G, Fockens, P, van Krieken, H.H, Verbeek, A.L, Jansen, J.B, Dekker, E. Random comparison of guaiac and immunochemical fecal occult blood tests for colorectal cancer in a screening population. *Gastroenterology* 2008; **135**(1):82–90.

Netherlands 2009 {published data only}

Hol, L, Wilschut, J.A, van, Ballegooijen M, van Vuuren, A.J, van, der, V, Reijerink, J.C, van der Togt, A.C, Kuipers, E.J, Habbema, J.D, van Leerdam, M.E. Screening for colorectal cancer: random comparison of guaiac and immunochemical faecal occult blood testing at different cut-off levels. *British Journal of Cancer* 2009;**100**(7):1103–1110.

Netherlands 2010 {published data only}

Hol, L, van Leerdam, M.E, van, Ballegooijen M, van Vuuren, A.J, van, Dekken H, Reijerink, J.C, van der Togt, A.C, Habbema, J.D, Kuipers, E.J. Screening for colorectal cancer: randomised trial comparing guaiac-based and immunochemical faecal occult blood testing and flexible sigmoidoscopy. *Gut* 2010;**59**(1):62–68.

New York 1993 {published data only}

* Winawer, S.J, Flehinger, B.J, Schottenfeld, D, Miller, D.G. Screening for colorectal cancer with fecal occult blood testing and sigmoidoscopy. *J. Nat. Cancer. Instit.* 1993;**85**: 1311–1318.

Saarland 1993 {published data only}

* Wahrendorf, J, Robra, B.P, Weibelt, H, Oberhausen, R, Weiland, M, Dhom, G. Effectiveness of colorectal cancer screening: results from a population-based case-control evaluation in Saarland. *Eur. J. Cancer Prev.* 1993;**2**(3): 221–227.

Turin 2010 {published data only}

Senore, C, Armaroli, P, Silvani, M, Andreoni, B, Bisanti, L, Marai, L, Castiglione, G, Grazzini, G, Taddei, S, Gasperoni, S, Giuliani, O, Malfitana, G, Marutti, A, Genta, G, Segnan, N. Comparing different strategies for colorectal cancer screening in Italy: predictors of patients' participation.

American Journal of Gastroenterology 2010;105(1):188–198.

Tuscany 2008 {published data only}

Costantini, A.S, Martini, A, Puliti, D, Ciatto, S, Castiglione, G, Grazzini, G, Zappa, M. Colorectal cancer mortality in two areas of Tuscany with different screening exposures. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2008;**100**(24): 1818–1821.

Washington 1995 {published data only}

* Lazovich, D, Weiss, N.S, Stevens, N.G, White, E, McKnight, B, Wagner, E.H. A case-control study to evaluate the efficacy of screening for faecal occult blood. *J. Med. Screen.* 1995;**2**(2):84–89.

Additional references

AIHW 2001

Australasian Association of Cancer Registries. *Cancer in Australia 2001*. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2004

Alderson 2005

Alderson P, Green S, Higgins JPT, Editors. The Cochrane Handbook of Systematic Reviews and Interventions 4.2.5 [Updated May 2005]. The Cochrane Library. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 2005, issue 2.

Atkin 2010

Atkin, W.S, Edwards, R, Kralj-Hans, I, Wooldrage, K, Hart, A.R, Northover, J.M.A, Parkin, D.M, Wardle, J, Duffy, S.W, Cuzick, J, UK Flexible Sigmoidoscopy Trial Investigators. Once-only flexible sigmoidoscopy screening in prevention of colorectal cacner: a multicentre randmoised controlled trial.. *Lancet* 2010;375:1624–1633..

Black 2002

Black, C, Haggstrom, D.A, Welch, H.G. All-cause mortality in randomised trials of cancer screening. *J. Nat. Cancer. Instit.* 2002;**94**(3):167–173.

Bliss 2004

Bliss, C.M.J, Schroy, P.C. Endoscopic diagnosis and management of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology* 2004;**20**:468–473.

Cappell 2005

Cappell, M.S. The pathophysiology, clinical presentation, and diagnosis of colon cancer and adenomatous polyps. Medical Clinics of North America 2005;89:1–42.

Church 1997

Church, T.R, Ederer, F, Mandel, J.S. Fecal occult blood screening in the Minnesota study: sensitivity of the screening test. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1997; **89**:1440–1448.

Citarda 2001

Citarda, F, Tomaselli, G, Capocaccia, R, Barcherini, S, The Italian Multicentre Study Group. Efficacy is standard clinical practice of colonoscopic polypectomy in reducing colorectal cancer incidence. *Gut* 2001;48:812–815.

Cochrane Handbook 5.0.2

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.0.2 [updated September 2009]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2009.

Ederer 1997

Ederer, F, Church, T.R, Mandel, J.S. Fecal occult blood screening in the Minnesota study: role of chance detection of lesions. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1997;89: 1423–1428.

Faivre 2002

Faivre, J, Bouvier, A, Bonithon-Kopp, C. Epidemiology and screening of colorectal cancer. *Best Practice Res. Clin. Gastronent.* 2002;**16**(2):187–199.

Federici 2005

Federici, A, Rossi, P.G, Borgia, P, Bartolozzi, F, Farchi, S, Gausticchi, G. The immunochemical faecal occult blood test leads to higher compliance than guaiac for colorectal cancer screening programmes: a cluster randomized controlled trial.. *J Med Screen* 2005;**12**:83–88.

Glasziou 1992

Glasziou, P.P. Meta-analysis adjusting for compliance: the example of screening for breast cancer. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 1992;**79**:488–494.

Glasziou 1995

Glasziou, P.P. Irwig, L.M. An evidence based approach to individualising treatment.. *BMJ* 1995;**311**:1356–1359.

Guittet 2009

Guittet, L, Bouvier, V, Mariotte, N, Vallee, J.P, Levillain, R, Tichet, J, Launoy, G. Comparison of a guaiac and an immunochemical faecal occult blood test for the detection of colonic lesions according to lesion type and location.. *British Journal of Cancer* 2009;**100**:1230–1235.

Hoff 2009

Hoff, G, Grotmol, T, Skovlund, E, Bretthauer, M, for the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Prevention Group. Risk of colorectal cancer seven years after flexible sigmoidoscopy screening: randomised controlled trial.. *BMJ* 2009;**338**: b1846.

Kronborg 1989

Kronborg, O, Fenger, C, Olsen, J, Bech, K, Sondergaard, O. Repeated screening for colorectal cancer with fecal occult blood test: a prospective randomized study at Funen, Denmark. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 1989;24:599–606.

Lang 1994

Lang, C.A, Ransohoff D.F. Fecal occult blood screening for colorectal cancer. Is mortality reduced by chance selection for screening colonoscopy?. *JAMA* 1994;**271**:1011–1013.

Liu 2000

Liu, X, Zheng, S, Chen, K, Ma, X, Zhou, L, Yu, H, Yao, K, Chen, K, Cai, S, Zhang, S. Randomized controlled trial of sequence mass screening program for colorectal cancer. *Zhonghua.Liu.Xing.Bing.Xue.Za.Zhi.* 2000;**21**(6):430–433.

Lynch 2000

Lynch, H.T, Lynch, J.F. Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Seminars in Surgical Oncology* 2000;**18**:305–313.

ONS 2004

Office of National Statistics. Mortality statistics cause: review of the registrar general on deaths by cause, sex and age in England and Wales, 2004. Office for National Statistics, 2005.

ONS 2005

Office of National Statistics. *Cancer Statistics Registrations: Registrations of cancer diagnosed in 2002.* Office for National Statistics, 2005.

Segnan 2005

Segnan, N, Senore, C, Andreoni, B, Arrigoni, A, Bisanti, L, Cardelli, A, Castiglione, G, Crosta, C, DiPlacido, R, Ferrari, A, Ferraris, R, Ferrero, F, Francchia, M, Gasperoni, S, Malfitana, G, Recchia, S, Rizzetto, M, Saracco, G, Spandre, M, Turco, D, Turco, P, Zappa, M, and the SCORE2 Working Group-Italy. Randomized trial of different screening strategies for colorectal cancer: patient response and detection rates.. *JNCI* 2005;97:347–357.

Towler 1998

Towler, B, Irwig, L, Glasziou, P, Kewenter, J, Weller, D, Silagy, C. A systematic review of the effects of screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, Hemoccult. *BMJ* 1998;**317**:559–565.

U.S. CDC 2004

U.S. Cancer Statistics Working Group. *United States Cancer Statistics: 2001 Incidence and Mortality.* Department of Health and Social Services, Centres for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute., 2004.

Weissfeld 2005

Weissfeld, J.L, Schoen, R.E, Pinsky, P.F, Bresalier, R.S, Church, T, Yurgalevitch, S, Austin, J.H, Prorok, P.C, Gohagan, J.K, for the PLCO Project Team. Flexible sigmoidoscopy in the PLCO Cancer Screening Trial: results from baseline screening examination of a randomized trial.. *JNCI* 2005;97:989–997.

Weitz 2005

Weitz, J, Koch, M, Debus, J, Hohler, T, Galle, P.R, Buchler, M.W. Colorectal cancer. *Lancet* 2005;**365**:153–165.

Winawer 1993

Winawer, S.J, Zauber, A.G, Ho, M.A, O'Brien, M.J, Gottlieb, L.S, et al. Prevention of colorectal cancer by colonoscopic polypectomy. *N Eng J Med* 1993;**329**: 1977–1981.

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Funen 1996

| Methods | | 6 persons lost to follow-up | | | | |
|-------------------------|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Participants | Inhabitants of Funen (Denmark) aged 45-75 years Screen group: Biennial group = 30,967; Control group = 30,966 Trial group comparability: age and sex similar for both groups | | | | | |
| Interventions | Hemoccult-II not rehydrated | Biennial Hemoccult Screening group Vs Control group Hemoccult-II not rehydrated Screening and follow-up: August 1985-1995; 5 screening rounds | | | | |
| Outcomes | participants) completed all 5 screening rounds Hemoccult-II sensitivity for CRC: 55% Positive predictive value for CRC: 17% in first rounds 96.3% positive FOBt attended diagnostic follot COL+DCBE, 5.9% incomplete colorectal exam) No information on number of COL performed or of Number of CRC cases: Screening group 481 (1.71/ Number of CRC deaths: Screening group 182 (0.65/ Number of deaths from CRC and complications of the group 249 (0.89/1000) Deaths from all causes: Screening group 6228 (22.0/ Proportion of Dukes A: Screening group 26.6% (4.20/ Proportion of Dukes A: Screening group | Colorectal cancer mortality at 10 years follow-up Compliance with screening = 66.8% attended first round of screening, 45.9% (68.7% of first round participants) completed all 5 screening rounds Hemoccult-II sensitivity for CRC: 55% Positive predictive value for CRC: 17% in first round of screening; 10% at final round of screening 96.3% positive FOBt attended diagnostic follow-up (83.9% complete COL, 6.6% incomplete COL+DCBE, 5.9% incomplete colorectal exam) No information on number of COL performed or complications of COL Number of CRC cases: Screening group 481 (1.71/1000), Control group 483 (1.72/1000) Number of CRC deaths: Screening group 182 (0.65/1000), Control group 230 (0.82/1000) Number of deaths from CRC and complications of treatment: Screening group 205 (0.73/1000), Control | | | | |
| Notes | 6 people moved away from Denmark, therefore, death certificates not available (uncertain if these 6 people died) Survival rate highest in patients with screen-detected CRC than in controls (log-rank test p<0.01) | | | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | | |
| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement | | | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate | | | | |

Funen 2002

| Methods | See Funen 1996 |
|---------------|--|
| Participants | See Funen 1996 |
| Interventions | See Funen 1996 |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at 13 years follow-up male/female ratio decrease from 0.92 to 0.81 Mean age increased from 59.8 yrs to 70.0 yrs Compliance with screening = 1st invitation 67%; 2nd to 7th invitations = 92-94% Proportion of positive FOBt ranged from 0.8% to 3.8%; cumulative risk of positive FOBt at least once 5.1% (1,559/30,762) 94.1% follow-up (1,467/1,599) of persons with positive FOBt; complete COL ranged from 81.6 to 89. 3% (over the 7 screening rounds) No mortality from COL in screening group Number of CRC cases: Screening group 649 (1.84/1000py), Control group 637 (1.81/1000py) Number of CRC deaths: Screening group 255 (0.82/1000py), Control group 310 (0.88/1000py) Deaths from all causes: Screening group 8,732 (24.78/1000py), Control group 8,724 (24.80/1000) Mortality reduction: 15% for CRC mortality (0.73-1.00) |
| Notes | |

Risk of bias

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Funen 2004

| Methods | See Funen 1996 |
|---------------|--|
| Participants | See Funen 1996 |
| Interventions | See Funen 1996 All Ss followed-up until death or Aug 2002 (17 years after start of study); by 9th screening round, 19,654 Ss in Screen group still alive, 9,367 were invited as participated in previous 8 rounds and not diagnosed with colorectal neoplasia (incl 41 Ss unfit for COL) |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at 17 years Mean age increased from 59.8 yrs to 73.0 yrs (mean age accepting invitation less than mean age for those declining invitation); male/female ratio decrease from 0.92 to 0.78 Compliance with screening = 1st invitation 67%; 2nd to 9th invitations = 91% Hemoccult sensitivity = 55% Proportion of positive FOBt ranged from 0.9% to 3.8%; cumulative risk of positive FOBt at least once 5.7% (1,766/30,762) 93.2% follow-up (1,647/1,766) of persons with positive FOBt; complete COL in 89% Positive predictive value for adenoma = 10mm: 31.6% 1st screening, 22.1% 9th screening Positive predictive value for CRC: 17.2% 1st screening, 16.5% 9th screening |

Funen 2004 (Continued)

| | Number of CRC cases: Screening group 889 (2.06/1000py), Control group 874 (2.02/1000py) Number of CRC deaths: Screening group 362 (0.84/1000), Control group 431 (1.00/1000) Number of deaths from CRC and complications of treatment: Screening group 427 (0.99/1000), Control group 479 (1.10/1000) Deaths from all causes: Screening group 12,205 (28.3/1000), Control group 12,248 (28.4/1000) Proportion of Dukes A: Screening group 36% (72/199 with positive Hemoccult-II), if all Ss in the screening group included 18% (162/889); Control group 11% (99/874) Mortality reduction: 16% for CRC mortality; 11% for CRC morality including complications from treatment | | |
|--------------|---|-----------------------|--|
| Notes | Incidence of CRC similar in the two groups; mortality rates almost identical in the screening and control groups Mortality from CRC less in screening group, but not statistically significant when post-op complications included Risk of death decreased with increasing number of screening rounds (after 9 rounds, RR of death from CRC <0.60 compared with risk in controls); 43% reduction in mortality after 9 screening rounds, 42% after 7 screening rounds, 40% after 5 screening rounds Interval cancer cases better prognosis than controls (survival curves) | | |
| Risk of bias | Risk of bias | | |
| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement | |

A - Adequate

Goteborg 1994

Allocation concealment? Low risk

| Methods | Random allocation of individuals of Goteborg born between 1918 and 1931 (3 cohorts depending on time of birth; 1918-1922, 1923-1927 and 1928-1931; the time between inclusion of the 1st and 2nd cohorts was 5 years, the time between the 2nd and 3rd cohorts was 4 years) No indication if intention to screen used for analysis 713 persons in the Screen group died before the second test was sent out and 58 could not be located (Total = 771) 593 persons in the Control group died before the second test was sent out and 29 could not be located (Total = 622) CRC mortality determined by one physician not involved in trial (blinded assessment) | |
|---------------|---|--|
| Participants | All 68,308 inhabitants of Goteborg (Sweden) aged 60-64 years Screen group = 34,144; Control group = 34,164 Trial group comparability: age balance demonstrated (no information on sex or other variables) | |
| Interventions | Hemoccult II screening group (two screens) Vs Control group All Hemoccult slides hydrated except for participants born between Jan 1918 - July 1920 during the first screening Screening commenced in 1982; ; 2nd screen performed 16-24 months after 1st (mean 2nd screen = 20 months, after first screen) | |

Goteborg 1994 (Continued)

| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at 8.5 years (range 2 to 9 years) Compliance with screening = 63% 1st screening, 59% 2nd screening Hemoccult sensitivity 82% (based on interval between negative test and re screening or within two years of final screening); Specificity NR Positive predictive value: NR 85% positive FOBt from 1st screening (or positive retest in 3rd cohort) attended diagnostic follow-up (COL), 5% received SIG only and 10% refused. 88% positive FOBt from re screening attended diagnostic follow-up (SIG, PROCT, DCBE), 4% received SIG only and 8% refused No information on complications of COL (see Kewenter et al., 1996) Number of CRC cases: Screening group 117 (2.2/1000 in 1st screening, 3.8/1000 for all Ss, 1.5/1000 Ss in 1st and re screening); Control group 44 (1.29/1000) Number of CRC deaths: No information provided Deaths from all causes: No information provided Proportion of Dukes A: Screening group 25.6% (29 screen-detected, 1 non-responder) and Control group 9.1% Mortality reduction: NR |
|----------|---|
| Notes | Authors report 60% compliance for second screening, however, actual figure 58.5% (19,991/34,144), unless second compliance calculated on withdrawals from screening group in study (19,1991/33,431 = 60%) |

Risk of bias

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Goteborg 1996

| Methods | As Goteborg 1994 | |
|---------------|---|--|
| Participants | As Goteborg 1994 | |
| Interventions | As Goteborg 1994 (reporting diagnostic and surgical complications in screening trial) | |
| Outcomes | FSig = 2,108 (repeated in 2% due to unclean intestine); 554 polyps in 413 Ss removed 3 perforated sigmoid colon (0.5% of all polypectomies/0.7% all Ss); no bleeding events reported DCBE = 1,987 of 2,108 (94.3%) underwent exam; 3% repeat examination; no complications reported COL = 190; COL performed to remove possible adenomas in 113 cases identified at DCBE 3 complications of COL; 3 perforations Laparotomy = CRC removed in 79 cases; all Ss treated without any mortality (3 Ss required addition LAP; 1 post-op bleeding, 1 perforation causing peritonitis, 1 unknown but suspected peritonitis) 13 adenomas removed by LAP (endoscopic removal considered inappropriate) | |
| Notes | | |
| Risk of bias | | |

Goteborg 1996 (Continued)

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Goteborg 2005

| Methods | As Goteborg 1994 | |
|---------------|--|--|
| Participants | As Goteborg 1994 | |
| Interventions | As Goteborg 1994 | |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at 15.5 years (range 11 to 19.4 years) Compliance with screening = 63% 1st screening, 70% at least one screen 92% (2009 persons) attended diagnostic follow-up (SIG, DCBE) Number of CRC cases: Screening group 721 (104 screen detected); Control group 754 Number of CRC deaths: Screen group 252; Control group 300 Deaths from all causes: Screening group 10591; Control group 10432 Mortality reduction: 16% (RR 0.84, CI 0.67-0.99). | |
| Notes | Unpublished information from authors. | |

Risk of bias

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Goteborg 2008

| Methods | As Goteborg 1994 | |
|---------------|---|--|
| Participants | As Goteborg 1994 | |
| Interventions | As Goteborg 1994 | |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at mean follow-up time of 15 years and 9 months (range 11 years and 3 months to 19 years and 5 months) from first invitation; mean follow-up time of 8 years and 8 months (range 6 years and 7 months to 13 years and 5 months) since last screening occasion Compliance with screening = 61.8% in total (62.5% prevalence round, 59.9% 1st screening round, 63. 9% 2nd round, 47.2% completed all screening rounds) Hemoccult sensitivity NR; Hemoccult specificity NR. Positive Predictive Value for CRC: 4.8% total (5.9% prevalence screen, 4.1% 1st screen, 4.1% 2nd screen) 86.7% positive FOBt overall attended complete diagnostic follow-up which included FSig and DCBE (87.3% prevalence round, 89.7% 1st screening round, 81.1% 2nd round) No information on complications of diagnostic follow-up. | |

Goteborg 2008 (Continued)

| | Number of CRC cases: Screening group = 721 (104 screen detected, 413 at follow-up, 204 non-participants); Control group = 754 Number of CRC deaths: Screening group = 252 (mortality rate = 0.53 per 1000 person-years), Control group = 300 (mortality rate = 0.64 per 1000 person-years) Deaths from all-causes: Screening group = 10591 (mortality rate = 22.48 per 1000 person-years), Control group = 10432 (mortality rate = 22.10 per 1000 person-years); Mortality ratio: RR 1.02, CI 0.99 to 1.06 Mortality reduction: 16% (RR 0.84, CI 0.71 to 0.99). Comparison between accepting screening once versus Control: 24% (RR 0.76, CI 0.63 to 0.92) |
|--------------|---|
| Notes | Due to changes in the classification of 'positive FOBt' (see p1031) number of positive FOBt tests differ between 2008 publication and 1994 publication (1994 = 942 positive FOBt in prevalence round; 2008 = 801 positive FOBt in prevalence round; also, 1994 = 1019 positive FOBt in 1st screening round; 2008 = 846 positive FOBt in 1st screening round) Number of CRC cases from positive test same in both publications, however, number of adenomas10 mm or above differ (1994 = 129 Ss with adenomas 10 mm or above in prevalence round; 2008 = 114 Ss with adenomas 10 mm or above in prevalence round) |
| Risk of bias | |

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Minnesota 1993

| Methods | Individual random allocation of volunteers (stratified by age, sex and place of residence) Analysis by intention to screen No loss to follow-up nor exclusions - see comments Blinded, standardised assessment of CRC mortality | |
|---------------|---|--|
| Participants | Volunteers recruited from the American Cancer Society (and fraternal), veterans and employee groups in the Minnesota area. Aged 50 to 80 years. Screen groups: Annual group (Agrp) = 15,570; Biennial group (Bgrp) = 15,587; Control group (Cgrp) = 15,394; Total = 46,551 Trial group comparability: age, sex and place of residence similar for all groups | |
| Interventions | Annual and Biennial Hemoccult screening groups Vs single Control group Hemoccult 82.5% rehydrated (rehydrated used between 1977 to 1982, then 1986 to 1992; not rehydrated used between 1976 to 1981) Screening: 1975-1982, and 1986-1992 | |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at 13 years follow-up Compliance with screening = Agrp 75.2% (all 46.2%), Bgrp 78.4% (all 59.7%); 90% of each group completed at least one screen Hemoccult sensitivity for CRC: 92.2% and specificity 90.4% for rehydrated; sensitivity 80.8% and specificity 97.7% for not rehydrated Positive predictive value: 9.8% for rehydration and 2.4% for not rehydrated slides 75% positive FOBt attended diagnostic follow-up (Uni Minn). 20% own physician, 5% declined | |

Minnesota 1993 (Continued)

| | 12,246 COL at Uni Minn; 4 perforation (all required surgery) and 11 serious bleeding (3 required surgery) Number of CRC cases: Agrp 323 (23/1000), Bgrp 323 (23/1000), Cgrp 356 (26/1000) Number of CRC deaths: Agrp 82 (5.88/1000), Bgrp 117 (8.33/1000), Cgrp 121 (8.83/1000) Deaths from all causes: Agrp 3361 (216/1000), Bgrp 3396 (218/1000), Cgrp 3340 (216/1000) Proportion of Dukes A: Agrp 30.2%, Bgrp 26.6% and Cgrp 22.3% Mortality reduction: 33% for Agrp; 6% for Bgrp | |
|-------------------------|--|-----------------------|
| Notes | Previous review: reported no loss to follow-up nor exclusions, however, Church et al (1991) report 299 Ss withdrew | |
| Risk of bias | | |
| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |
| Minnesota 1999 | | |
| Methods | See Mandel et al 1993 (Update of Minnesota study) | |
| Participants | See Mandel et al 1993 | |
| Interventions | See Mandel et al 1993 All Ss followed-up until death or Aug 2002 (17 years after start of study); by 9th screening round, 19,654 Ss in Screen group still alive, 9,367 were invited as participated in previous 8 rounds and not diagnosed with colorectal neoplasia (including 41 Ss unfit for COL) | |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at 18 years follow-up Compliance with screening = Agrp 75%, Bgrp 78% Agrp average of 3.7 screens in Phase I and 4.0 screens in Phase II; Bgrp average of 2.3 screens in Phase I and 2.1 screens in Phase II 95% Ss with positive screen received diagnostic follow-up (5% declined to consult a physician); Agrp 83% and Bgrp 84% underwent complete COL or FSIG+DCBE Number of CRC deaths: Agrp 121 (9.46/1000), Bgrp 148 (11.19/1000), Cgrp 121 (14.09/1000) Deaths from all causes: Agrp 5236 (342/1000), Bgrp 5213 (340/1000), Cgrp 5186 (343/1000) Cumulative CRC mortality ratio: Agrp 0.67 (CI: 0.51-0.83); Bgrp 0.79 (CI: 0.62-0.97), Cgrp 1.00 Duke's stage D: Agrp 47% fewer than control; Bgrp 32% fewer than control Mortality reduction: 33% Agrp, 21% Bgrp | |
| Notes | Survival rates for Duke's stage: A = 94.3%, B = 84.4%, C = 56.6%, D = 2.5% | |
| Risk of bias | Risk of bias | |
| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Minnesota 2000

| Methods | See Mandel et al 1993 and 1999 (Update of Minnesota study) Follow-up for vital statistics complete for 91.3% (Agrp), 91.7% (Bgrp) and 91.2% (Cgrp); 95% complete for all groups through to Year 17 Death certificates missing for 3 of the 18,873 people who were known to have died during 18 year follow-up |
|---------------|---|
| Participants | See Mandel et al 1993 and 1999 |
| Interventions | See Mandel et al 1993 and 1999 |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer incidence at 18 years follow-up Number of CRC cases: Agrp 417 (32/1000), Bgrp 435 (33/1000), Cgrp 507 (39/1000) Agrp PPV for CRC: ranged from 0.87% for one positive slide and 4.53% for six slides Bgrp PPV for CRC: ranged from 1.12% for one positive slide and 6.13% for six slides Agrp PPV for adenomatous polyps =1cm: ranged from 5.99% for one positive slide and 7.87% for six slides Bgrp PPV for adenomatous polyps =1cm: ranged from 6.86% for one positive slide and 10.08% for six slides Mortality reduction: see Mandel et al 1999 |
| Notes | |

Risk of bias

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Nottingham 1996

| Methods | Central randomisation of households identified from GP records (stratified by size, sex and average age of eligible members) Analysis by intention to screen (however, authors report that Ss lost to follow-up excluded from analysis) 1.7% (2,599) of randomised Ss lost to follow-up Blinded, standardised assessment for CRC mortality and other outcomes |
|---------------|--|
| Participants | Individuals living in the Nottingham area aged 45-74 years (50-74 years main trial, 45-74 years pilot study); 1053 (506 screen group, 547 control group) over 75 years at entry of study Screen group: 76,466 (75,253 offered screening after exclusion); Control group: 76,384 (74, 998 after exclusion) Trial group compatibility: age and sex similar for both groups |
| Interventions | Biennial Haemoccult screening group Vs Control group Haemoccult not rehydrated Recruitment Feb 1985-Jan 1991 (main study), Feb 1981-June 1983 (pilot study); Screening ceased Feb 1995; follow-up to end-June 1995 |

| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer screening mortality at median 7.8 years (range 4.5-14.5 years) Compliance with screening: 59.6% completed at least one screen (38.2% completed all FOBt offered, between 3 to 6 screens) Haemoccult sensitivity for CRC: 53.6% (Robinson et al 95) Positive predictive value: 1st invite = 47.1%, later invite to 1st refusers = 54.5% (first screening); Within 27 mnths = 44.8%, after 27 mnths = 42.8% (re screening); 46.2% average 2.1% (960) Ss needed full investigation after first screen; 1.2% (1090) FOB tests positive after re screening Detection rates for adenomas and CRC higher for over 65 (7.7 vs 4.4/1000 and 3.4 vs 1.1/1000); also higher in men (7.2 vs 3.8/1000 and 2.3 vs 1.5/1000) 1778 screen group underwent COL (4% of FOBt Ss with one+ screen) one 1+ occasions) 74% (174/236) of CRC detected at screening in rectum or sigmoid colon Number of CRC cases: Screening group 893; 236 FOBt, 249 interval, 400 non-responders, 8 endoscopic adenoma follow-up (1.49 per 1000 person-years); Control group 856 (1.44 per 1000 person-years) Number of CRC deaths: Screening group verified 360 (0.60/1000py), Control group verified 420 (0.70/1000py); Screening group certified 350 (0.59/1000py), Control group 398 (0.67/1000py) Deaths from all causes: 12,624 (21.1/1000py), Control group 12,515 (21.0/1000py) Proportion of Dukes A: Screening group 20% (42 1st invite, 6 later invite, 49 rescreen, 39 interval, 3 adenoma follow-up) and Control group 11% (95) Mortality reduction: 15% reduction in cumulative CRC morality in screening group (OR=0.85, CI 0. 74-0.98; p=0.026) |
|----------|--|
| Notes | 4.3% more cancers diagnosed in the screening group in comparison to control group |

Risk of bias

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Nottingham 1999

| Methods | See Hardcastle et al 1996 (Update of Nottingham study - primarily concerning risks associated with colonoscopy after positive CRC screening result) |
|---------------|---|
| | colonoscopy after positive CIC screening result) |
| Participants | See Hardcastle et al 1996 |
| Interventions | See Hardcastle et al 1996 |
| Outcomes | 1778 people (4% of those accepting screening at least once) underwent colonic investigation at least once (1474 colonoscopies and 738 DCBEs were performed). 960 people (2.1%) required colonic investigation after first screen. 236 CRC cases and 249 interval CRC cases in screen group (400 CRC cases in non-participants in the screen group). 856 CRC cases in the control group. 13 interval cancers following a positive test (two investigated by COL, 6 DCBE and 5 refusals). |
| | Sensitivity of colonic investigation estimated as 96.7% (236/244). Eight interval cancers (A=0, B=1, C=3, D=4), none presented in first year, 6 in the second year and one |

Nottingham 1999 (Continued)

| in the third year (remaining case presented 13 years following positive test). |
|--|
| COL missed two cancers - sigmoid colon and caecum. |
| 6 DCBE missed cancers proximal to hepatic flexure. |
| Seven (7/1474 = 0.5%) complications associated with COL (5 perforations, one major bleed, one snare |
| entrapment). Six required surgical intervention. No COL related deaths (no patients died within 30 days |
| of COL who were not being treated for CRC). No DCBE complications. |
| Five patients died within 30 days of surgery (days 0, 1, 4, 9, 14) for screen detected CRC (A=0, B=1, C= |
| 2, D=4) |

Notes

Risk of bias

| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Nottingham 2002

| Methods | See Hardcastle et al 1996 (Update of Nottingham study) Standard intention-to-treat analysis used for controls (incidence and mortality) Cuzick et al 1997 (allowing for the differences in underlying rates of acceptors and non-acceptors of screening to produce less biased estimate of RR) method used to provide estimate of CRC mortality in those accepting the first screening test relative to controls 547 (0.4% both groups) could not be located by ONS or emigrated, therefore, excluded from mortality analysis |
|---------------|---|
| Participants | See Hardcastle et al 1996 Screen group: 76,466 (76,224 after loss to follow-up); Control group: 76,384 (76, 079 after exclusion); NOTE: different to previous figures reported in Hardcastle et al 1996 |
| Interventions | See Hardcastle et al 1996 Person years in the screen and control groups calculated from date of study entry to 30 June 1999 or death |
| Outcomes | Colorectal cancer mortality at median follow-up 11.7 years (range 8.4 to 18.4 years) Compliance 57% 1,977 Ss in screen group tested positive at least once (cumulative risk 2.6% of having positive test) 73% (1,439) underwent COL, remaining undergoing other investigations (e.g. DCBE); cumulative proportion of Ss undergoing one COL as follow-up after positive FOBt was 1.9% Report possible cardiovascular complication of COL, rate higher in Ss undergoing COL following positive FOBt (6.4/1000py) than controls (5.9/1000py), but non-significant Number of CRC cases: Screening group 1,268 (1.51 per 1000py); Control group 1,283 (1.53 per 1000py) Number of verified CRC deaths: Screening group 593 (0.70/1000py), Control group verified 684 (0.81/1000py) Deaths from all causes: 20,421 (24.18/1000py), Control group 20,336 (24.11/1000py) Mortality reduction: 13% (RR 0.87; CI 0.78-0.97, p = 0.01) |
| Notes | |

Nottingham 2002 (Continued)

| Risk of bias | | |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Bias | Authors' judgement | Support for judgement |
| Allocation concealment? | Low risk | A - Adequate |

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

| Study | Reason for exclusion |
|------------------|--|
| Almpoea 2004 | One-time non-randomised FOB test screening |
| Beijing 2004 | Non-randomised study |
| Burgundy 2004 | Non-randomised study |
| California 1993 | Case-control study |
| Calvados 1996 | Non-randomised mass screening programme |
| Florence 1997 | Case-control study |
| Guildford 2001 | Case-control study |
| Italy 2010 | No control group |
| Japan 1995 | Case-control study |
| Jiashan 2003 | One-time FOB test |
| Milan 1999 | Nested case-control study |
| Netherlands 2008 | No control group |
| Netherlands 2009 | No control group |
| Netherlands 2010 | No control group |
| New York 1993 | Non-randomised study |
| Saarland 1993 | Case-control study |
| Turin 2010 | No control group |

(Continued)

| Tuscany 2008 | Non-randomised mass screening programme |
|-----------------|---|
| Washington 1995 | Case-control study |

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. All Hemoccult Screening Groups Versus Control Groups

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|--|----------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Colorectal cancer mortality (Fixed) | 4 | 329642 | Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.84 [0.78, 0.90] |
| 1.1 Randomised controlled trials | 4 | 329642 | Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.84 [0.78, 0.90] |
| 2 Colorectal cancer mortality (Random) | 4 | 329642 | Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.84 [0.78, 0.90] |
| 2.1 Randomised controlled trials | 4 | 329642 | Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.84 [0.78, 0.90] |

Comparison 2. Biennial Only RCT Screening Groups Versus Control Groups

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---|----------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Colorectal Cancer Mortality (Fixed) | 3 | 245764 | Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.85 [0.78, 0.92] |
| 1.1 Randomised Controlled Trials | 3 | 245764 | Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.85 [0.78, 0.92] |
| 2 Colorectal Cancer Mortality (Random) | 3 | 245764 | Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.85 [0.78, 0.92] |
| 2.1 Randomised Controlled Trials | 3 | 245764 | Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.85 [0.78, 0.92] |

Comparison 3. All-Cause Mortality Screening Groups Versus Control Groups

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|--|----------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 All-cause mortality (Fixed) | 4 | 329642 | Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI) | 1.00 [0.99, 1.02] |
| 1.1 Randomised controlled trials (Fixed) | 4 | 329642 | Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI) | 1.00 [0.99, 1.02] |
| 2 All-cause mortality (Random) | 4 | 329642 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 1.00 [0.99, 1.01] |

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------------|----------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 All-cause without CRC (Fixed) | 4 | 326616 | Peto Odds Ratio (Peto, Fixed, 95% CI) | 1.01 [1.00, 1.03] |
| 2 All-cause without CRC | 4 | 326616 | Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 1.01 [1.00, 1.03] |
| (Random) | | | | |

FEEDBACK

Comments from Dr. Hans-Hermann Dubben, 21 July 2009

Summary

Based on the numbers given in your tables, I came to the conclusion that all-cause mortality is higher in the screening group as compared to the control group. Colorectal cancer (CRCa) screening does more harm than benefit: for one life prolonged there are almost three lives shortened.

From calculations I performed (available from the CCCG editorial office) there is a statistically significant increase in all-cause mortality in the screening group (p = 0.03).

Furthermore, calculations of absolute risk reduction (Control-Screening) showed that Number needed to harm (NNH) is one in 287 in the screening group. Other-cause mortality is significantly increased, and finally for the colorectal cancer specific mortality my calculations showed that per one life that is prolonged (omitting one CRCa death) there are about 625/211 = 2.96 lives shortened.

I would be very grateful if you could help me to answer a few questions:

- 1.) Would it not be prudent now to emphasize that colorectal cancer screening can be detrimental in terms of all-cause mortality, or even to warn against colorectal cancer screening?
- 2.) Is there a strong argument why to use the Peto odds ratio in your review?
- 3.) Was the choice of the Peto odds ratio done a priori before the data were evaluated? Yours sincerely, Hans-Hermann Dubben

Reply

Dear Hans-Hermann Dubben,

Thank you for your interest in the review and for taking the time to contact us in regards to your query. We also appreciate that you sent your analysis of the data to enable us to respond to your query.

Unfortunately, and with all due respect sir, we suspect that your calculations are incorrect. You seem to have pooled the results of all four trials, however, your analysis indicates that you have included both of the screening arms of the Minnesota trial (annual and biennial screening). Therefore, unfortunately you have introduced confounding into the analysis in that you have included a greater number of deaths in the screening arms than the control arms (essentially 5 screening groups versus 4 screening groups). This is also the reason why we performed the meta-analysis of the trials.

We decided to user the Peto method a priori given that:

- a) it is appropriate for trials in which trials have roughly an equal number of participants in both groups
- b) the treatment effects are small (e.g. CRC mortality is approximately 2% of all-cause mortality).

Indeed, the Peto method was developed specifically for use in cancer where small effects are likely, yet very important.

I hope that I have answered your query satisfactorily and would also like to indicate that we will be updating the review towards the end of this year. Thank you again for your time.

Kind regards,

Paul Hewitson

Research Fellow

Contributors

Hans-Hermann Dubben, Ph.D, Associate professor Department of Primary Medical Care University Medical Center Martinistrasse 52 20246 Hamburg Germany dubben@uke.uni-hamburg.de

__

Paul Hewitson Research Fellow Department of Primary Health Care University of Oxford Old Road, Headington Oxford OX3 7LF Tel: 01865 289359 Fax: 01865 289287

Email: paul.hewitson@dphpc.ox.ac.uk

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 6 June 2010.

| Date | Event | Description |
|------------------|--------------------------------|---|
| 30 November 2010 | Feedback has been incorporated | Comments and replies inserted |
| 7 June 2010 | New search has been performed | Update to previous Cochrane review (updated search and inclusion of results from one published RCT) |

HISTORY

Review first published: Issue 2, 1998

| Date | Event | Description |
|-----------------|--|-----------------------|
| 1 November 2006 | New citation required and conclusions have changed | Substantive amendment |

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

PH conducted the literature search, assessment of abstracts, critical appraisal and data extraction of identified articles, main analyses and writing of the report.

PG was an author of the original review and contributed to the assessment of abstracts, main analyses and writing of the updated review

BT was the lead author of the original Cochrane report.

EW contributed to the critical appraisal and data extraction of identified articles and comments on the report.

LI was an author of the original review and provided comments on the updated review.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There are no other potential conflicts of interest relating to this review.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• No sources of support supplied

External sources

• Cancer Research UK, UK.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Mass Screening; *Occult Blood; Colorectal Neoplasms [*diagnosis; prevention & control]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

MeSH check words

Humans